ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAMES MONTELL CHAPPELL

CASE NO. 43493

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

JAN 2 6 2005

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

JANETTE M. BLOOM

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

STATE'S APPEAL FROM GRANTING OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST CONVICTION) AS TO A NEW PENALTY HEARING AND CHAPPELL'S CROSS-APPEAL AS TO FAILURE TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL AND FOR NOT GRANTING RELIEF ON THE OTHER GROUNDS RAISED CHALLENGING THE PENALTY HEARING IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. WHETHER CHAPPELL WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE TRIAL PHASE AND THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE ORDERED A NEW TRIAL
- 2. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT REVERSING CHAPPELL'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION, IMPARTIAL JURY FROM CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY, AND RELIABLE DETERMINATION DUE TO THE TRIAL, CONVICTION AND SENTENCE BEING IMPOSED BY A JURY FROM WHICH AFRICAN AMERICANS AND OTHER MINORITIES WERE SYSTEMATICALLY EXCLUDED AND UNDER REPRESENTED
- 3. WHETHER CHAPPELL'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ARE INVALID UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS, EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND RELIABLE SENTENCE BECAUSE CHAPPELL WAS NOT AFFORDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL ON DIRECT APPEAL
- 4. WHETHER CHAPPELL'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ARE INVALID UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS, EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND RELIABLE SENTENCE BECAUSE THE A NUMBER OF JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN AT TRIAL WERE FAULTY AND WERE NOT THE SUBJECT OF CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION BY TRIAL COUNSEL, AND NOT RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL BY APPELLATE COUNSEL
- 5. WHETHER THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN AT THE PENALTY HEARING FAILED TO APPRAISE JURY OF THE PROPER USE OF CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND AS SUCH THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY

WAS ARBITRARY AND NOT BASED ON VALID WEIGHING OF AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

6. WHETHER CHAPPELL'S DEATH SENTENCE IS INVALID UNDER THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS, EQUAL PROTECTION, AND A RELIABLE SENTENCE BECAUSE THE NEVADA CAPITAL PUNISHMENT SYSTEM OPERATES IN AN ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS MANNER AND DOES NOT NARROW THE CLASS ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE THE DEATH PENALTY

3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

JAMES CHAPPELL (hereinafter referred to as CHAPPELL) was charged by way of an Information filed on October 11, 1995 with Burglary, Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, and Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon. (1 APP 38-43) The State filed a Notice of Intent to seek the death penalty alleging four aggravating circumstances: the murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit a robbery; the murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit any burglary or home invasion; the murder was committed while the person was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit any sexual assault; and the murder involved torture or depravity of mind. (1 APP 44-46)

The jury trial commenced on October 7, 1996 and the jury convicted CHAPPELL of all charges and after the penalty hearing imposed a sentence of death. The District Court imposed consecutive sentences on the burglary and robbery charges. (9 APP 2189-2191)

CHAPPELL pursued a direct appeal to the Nevada Supreme

Court with the conviction and sentence being affirmed on

December 30, 1998. Chappell v. State, 114 Nev. 1404, 972 P.2d

838 (1998). CHAPPELL filed for Rehearing and on March 17, 1999

an Order was entered Denying Rehearing. A Petition for Writ of

Certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court and

Certiorari was denied on October 4, 1999. The Nevada Supreme

Court issued it's Remittitur on October 26, 1999. (10 APP 2335-2350)

A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) was timely filed by CHAPPELL on October 19, 1999. (9 APP 2255-2314) After appointment of counsel a Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed on April 30, 2002. (10 APP 2427-2490) Argument by counsel was heard on July 25, 2002 and the Court ordered that an evidentiary hearing be held to allow trial counsel to testify concerning that failure to utilize the witnesses named in the Supplemental Petition. (10 APP 2539-2544) The evidentiary hearing was held on September 13, 2002 and Deputy Public Defenders Howard Brooks and Willard Ewing testified. (11 APP 2548-2615)

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing CHAPPELL requested to be allowed to call other witnesses for live testimony and the Court denied the request, but allowed CHAPPELL to obtain and file affidavits from the witnesses, and then allowed Post Hearing Briefing for the purposes of showing the relationship between the attorney's testimony and the witnesses that should have been used at the trial and penalty hearing. (11 APP 2685-2696)

The District Court granted the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus as to sentencing only and ordered a new penalty hearing.

(11 APP 2716-2719) The State of Nevada filed a Notice of Appeal on or about the 17th day of June, 2004 (11 APP 2721-22) and CHAPPELL filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal on June 24, 2004

(11 APP 2726-2727).

This case presents an extremely unique procedural history and procedural posture for this Court. The District Court granted a new penalty hearing, but not on all of the grounds raised by CHAPPELL. The State appealed the new penalty hearing and CHAPPELL cross-appealed for the failure to grant a new trial and for not granting relief on the other grounds raised challenging the penalty hearing. It is therefore necessary for CHAPPELL to raise all grounds both for trial and penalty hearing to preserve his record.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For purposes of this Brief CHAPPELL will incorporate the Facts from the decision of the Nevada Supreme Court on direct appeal, with the caveat that CHAPPELL maintains that no proper investigation was conducted before either the trial or penalty hearing and therefore the testimony presented was virtually unopposed at trial and penalty hearing and does not accurately portray the facts of the case. (See e.g. Buffalo v. State, 111 Nev. 1145, 901 P.2d 647 (1995) wherein the Court found that the overwhelming evidence that appeared after trial was entirely different from the evidence that came to light after post-conviction pleadings). CHAPPELL also provides a summary of the evidence conducted at the post conviction evidentiary hearing.

TRIAL TESTIMONY

3

"On the morning of August 31, 1995, James Montell Chappell was mistakenly released from prison in Las Vegas where he had been serving time since June 1995 for domestic battery. Upon his release, Chappell went to the Ballerina Mobile Home Park in Las Vegas where his ex-girlfriend, Deborah Panos, lived with their three children. Chappell entered Panos' trailer by climbing through the window. Panos was home alone, and she and Chappell engaged in sexual intercourse. Sometime later that morning Chappell repeatedly stabbed Panos with a kitchen knife, killing her. Chappell then left the trailer park in Panos' car and drove to a nearby housing complex.

The State filed an information on October 11, 1995, charging Chappell with one count of burglary, one count of robbery with the use of a deadly weapon, and one count of murder with the use of a deadly weapon. On November 8, 1995, the State filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. The notice listed four aggravating circumstances: (1) the murder was committed during the commission of or an attempt to commit any robbery; (2) the murder was

committed during the commission of or an attempt to commit any burglary and/or home invasion; (3) the murder was committed during the commission of or an attempt to commit any sexual assault; and (4) the murder involved torture or depravity of mind.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Prior to trial, Chappell offered to stipulate that he (1) entered Panos' trailer home through a window, (2) engaged in sexual intercourse with Panos, (3) caused Panos' death by stabbing her with a kitchen knife, and (4) was jealous of Panos giving and receiving attention from other men. The State accepted the stipulations, and the case proceeded to trial on October 7, 1996.

Chappell took the witness stand on his own behalf and testified that he considered the trailer to be his home and that he had entered through the trailer's window because he had lost his key and did know that Panos was at home. He testified that Panos greeted him as he entered the trailer and that they had consensual sexual intercourse. Chappell testified that he left with Panos to pick up their children from day care and discovered in the car a love letter addressed to Panos. Chappell, enraged, dragged Panos back into the trailer where he stabbed her to death. CHAPPELL argued that his actions were the result of a jealous rage.

The jury convicted Chappell of all charges. Following a penalty hearing, the jury returned a sentence of death on the murder charge, finding two mitigating circumstances - murder committed while Chappell was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and 'any other mitigating circumstances' - and all four alleged aggravating The district court sentenced Chappell circumstances. to a minimum of forty-eight months and a maximum of 120 months for the burglary; a minimum seventy-two months and a maximum of 180 months for robbery, plus an equal and consecutive sentence for the use of a deadly weapon; and death for the count of murder in the first degree with the use of a deadly weapon. The district court ordered all counts to run consecutively. Chappell timely appealed his conviction and sentence of death."

Chappell v. State, 114 Nev. 1404, 972 P.2d 838 (1998).

EVIDENCE AT EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Howard Brooks had been licensed as an attorney for 14 years and worked for the Clark County Public Defender's office for 12 years (11 APP 2551). He was assigned to represent CHAPPELL as soon as the case came into the system. He was part of the murder team starting in January, 1995 and his supervisor was Phil Kohn (11 APP 2552). During that period of time his caseload was typically between nine and eleven cases (11 APP 2552-3). When the CHAPPELL case went to trial he had tried one other death penalty case and three other murder trial (11 APP 2553). Will Ewing assisted Brooks during trial and it was Ewing's first capital murder case. Ewing's primary role was to prepare penalty phase evidence and witnesses (11 APP 2554).

Brooks made the strategic decision to stipulate to certain facts after talking to CHAPPELL about the matter (11 APP 2555). It had become clear to Brooks that the State was trying to bring in all sorts of extraneous evidence regarding the prior relationship between CHAPPELL and Panos. Brooks wanted to limit the evidence to the facts of the killing because he felt he had a very strong argument for either second degree murder or voluntary manslaughter. The only way that Brooks felt he could make the other bad acts irrelevant was to stipulate that CHAPPELL had committed the killing and it was not an accident (11 APP 2555). Brooks discussed this strategy with CHAPPELL and he agreed to the stipulation. The State argued that the evidence was admissible despite the stipulation and the Court

allowed the admission of the evidence (11 APP 2556).

Brooks did not withdraw the offer to stipulate because he was convinced that CHAPPELL could not get a fair trial if all of the extraneous issues concerning domestic violence from years earlier were admitted during the trial (11 APP 2557). At the <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing the Court ruled that an offer of proof was sufficient and that witnesses were not needed and based on the offer of proof ruled that the prior incidents were proven by clear and convincing evidence. The offer of proof was a bare bones summary and had nothing to do with what was presented at trial where there was vast testimony about every single incident of domestic violence (11 APP 2558).

The focus of the trial became the long history of the relationship between CHAPPELL and Panos. Brooks did not anticipate that the trial was going to be about their relationship and thus his investigation focused on the specifics of the killing and mitigation evidence (11 APP 2560). CHAPPELL had given Brooks a list of witnesses that he wanted interviewed and called at trial, but even as to those witnesses that Brooks located, his focus was still on the killing and not the long relationship between CHAPPELL and Panos. Brooks was stunned that the evidentiary rulings were going against him and had no idea before trial that all the bad character evidence would be admitted (11 APP 2560). Brooks did not seek a continuance when he learned that the focus of the trial had changed and admitted that he probably should have done so (11

APP 2561).

Although Brooks went to Michigan to prepare for trial he did not interview any persons from high school concerning the relationship between CHAPPELL and Panos (11 APP 2561). An investigator went with him to Michigan but they were looking for information on CHAPPELL'S past and were not focusing on the relationship at all (11 APP 2562). When they went to Michigan they only were there for one full day and should have stayed a few days and tried to find the witnesses. If they did go to house of a witness and they weren't home they did not go back later (11 APP 2568). He did not go to Arizona to interview anyone concerning CHAPPELL and Panos' relationship while the lived Arizona (11 APP 2562).

Brooks' opinion was that the case was compelling one for voluntary manslaughter since the provocation of learning of the betrayal by Panos was self-evident. Second degree murder was a fall-back option (11 APP 2563). Brooks admitted that it would have been important to present witnesses to testify that even though CHAPPELL and Panos would argue and fight it was not uncommon that Panos would quickly forgive him and they would get back together. Brooks did not present any witnesses to corroborate how the relationship was working between them (11 APP 2564).

The defense team was trying to find witnesses the week
before trial due to the rulings of the Court on the character
evidence and in retrospect Brooks believe he should have sought

a continuance to give him time to find the witnesses, but at the time he just couldn't believe the great detail of other alleged bad acts that the Court was allowing to be presented to the jury (11 APP 2565).

Brooks did not contact Shirley Sorrell, nor did he not spend a lot of time trying to located James Ford (11 APP 2567). Ford was the best friend of CHAPPELL in Michigan and could been presented at trial to rebut the State's case and in mitigation at the penalty hearing (11 APP 2567-68). Brooks and his investigator looked for Ivri Marrell but when they went to his house he wasn't there (11 APP 2569). Brooks testified that they should have stayed a few extra days in Michigan and found the other witnesses (11 APP 2570).

Neither Chris Bardow or David Green from Arizona were called as witnesses and Brooks never spoke with them (11 APP 2570). CHAPPELL had told Brooks about Green and Bardow and had given him a list of the other witnesses that he wanted located and interviewed as witnesses but no effort was made to locate witnesses in Arizona (11 APP 2571).

With respect to the claims concerning the failure to object Brooks did not have a strategic reason for not objecting to any of the asserted improper arguments (11 APP 2573-76). To his recollection none of his objections were successful in the case and the attorneys were so exhausted by the rulings that by halfway through the trial everything seemed futile (11 APP 2576).

One Motion that Brooks had filed before trial was to dismiss the charges on equal protection grounds as he had other similar cases where the case had not sought the death penalty and he believed that only reason the State sought the death penalty against CHAPPELL because he was a black man that had killed a white women (11 APP 2582-83). In hindsight he believed the proper motion would have been to strike the death penalty instead of to dismiss the entire case (11 APP 2583).

Based on the Briefs filed with the Nevada Supreme Court and the issues raised which were not addressed by the Opinion of the Court, Brooks was of the opinion that the case was not fully and properly reviewed by the Nevada Supreme Court, and that the Court did not address the most important issues raised (11 APP 2588).

With respect to not offering jury instructions that set forth specific mitigating circumstances and the proper limited use of character evidence, Brooks did not have a strategic reason for not having done so. (11 APP 2589-90)

Prior to trial, Brooks did not go out and interview any of the State's witnesses and historically it had been the practice of the office not to do so, and if you asked for it the investigators would pretty much laugh at you (11 APP 2590).

After the Court ruled that the prior domestic battery incidents were admissible, Brooks did no investigation into the facts and circumstances of any of the other acts. If he had known that all of the details of the domestic batteries were going to be

admitted he certainly would have done a tremendous number of things to investigate the incidents (11 APP 2591).

Will Ewing was primarily assigned to handle the penalty hearing and was the attorney responsible for making objections at the penalty hearing. He was not yet qualified under Supreme Court Rule 250 at the time of the CHAPPELL trial (11 APP 2604). He had no strategic reasons for not objecting to any of the arguments that were challenged in CHAPPELL'S Habeas Corpus Petition (11 APP 2605-2607). With respect to the testimony from the family of Panos asking the jury to give CHAPPELL death, the failure to object was a misunderstanding of the law that such testimony was permissible (11 APP 2607). Further there was no strategic reason not to offer jury instructions that contained specific mitigating circumstances or which properly defined the use of character evidence at the penalty hearing (11 APP 2608-2609).

AFFIDAVIT EVIDENCE

IVRI MARRELL was friends with CHAPPELL while in high school and after high school and was one his best friends. He could have testified to CHAPPELL'S employment history and also concerning his relationship with Panos. Marrell also knew about CHAPPELL'S relationship with his children. Marrell further could have testified that CHAPPELL did not follow Panos to Arizona but rather it was she that was always calling him and asking him to come back to Tucson and she sent him the ticket to go back to Tucson. (11 APP 2676-78)

and had learned from CHAPPELL when he came back from Tucson about all the problems that he had to endure. He felt that it was his obligation to take care of Deborah and the kids and that another guy would not want to take care of her. He would do all the chores around their apartment such as cooking and cleaning and would take care of the children while Deborah worked. Despite this, Deborah was very controlling and demanding of him, often making racial comments to him. Further CHAPPELL was not violent, and was like a big clown and was always real playful. He was the life of a party and would always make people laugh. (11 APP 2679-81)

JAMES FORD, another friend knew Deborah Panos through her relationship with JAMES. There was a great deal of animosity from Deborah's family toward JAMES because he was black.

Deborah was very controlling and jealous of JAMES and wouldn't let him go out with the guys and would often verbally abuse him. In many respects the testimony from Marrell, Ford and Dean is similar because of their close friendship with CHAPPELI and knowledge of his relationship with Panos. (11 APP 2682-84)

CLARA AXAM is the grandmother of CHAPPELL raised him and his two sisters after their mother was killed in an automobile accident. Although she did testify at the penalty hearing she was not called during the trial. Her knowledge of the relationship with Panos should have been used to bolster the argument for less that a first degree murder conviction. The

claim as to Axam is not for not locating her to testify, but not using her to her full potential. She would have been able to provide information to locate James Ford, Ivri Marrell, and Ben Dean if she had been asked to do so. (11 APP 2665-66)

SHIRLEY SORRELL knew CHAPPELL at Otto Junior High School and at Sexton High School and also knew Panos in High School. She was aware that they had become a couple and her opinion she was very controlling of him. Panos was really jealous of JAMES and would continually accuse him of having had an affair with her and used their friendship to control JAMES. (11 APP 2667-68)

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