2		
3		가 하는 것으로 가는 것이 하는 것이 되었다. 
4		ODIOINIAI
5	JAMES MONTELL CHAPPELL,	ORIGINAL
6	Appellant/Cross-Respondent,	
7	Appellant,	Case No. 43493
8	v.	{ FILED
9	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	JUN 0 2 2005
10	Respondent/Cross-Appellant.	
11	Respondent.	JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERKOS SUPREME COURT BY DEPUTY CLERKO
12		
13	RESPONDENT'S ANSV AND OPENING BR	VERING BRIEF ON APPEAL IEF ON CROSS-APPEAL
14	Cross-Appeal Fr	om A Post-Conviction A New Penalty Hearing
15	·	
16	Lighth Judicial Dist	trict Court, Clark County
17	DAVID M. SCHIECK	DAVID ROGER
18	Clark County Special Public Defender Nevada Bar No. 000824	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781

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

#### Ш

# THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE SOLE ISSUE OF FAILURE TO CALL PENALTY PHASE WITNESSES SUFFICIENT TO GRANT A NEW PENALTY HEARING

The district court granted Defendant a new penalty hearing on the sole assignment of error that Defendant's counsel was ineffective for failing to locate and call certain witnesses to testify during the penalty phase of Defendant's case. The district court did not address the merits of Defendant's other claims. As such, as argued in I above, Defendant's arguments in his opening brief regarding other assignments of error during the penalty phase are not cognizable in this appeal. The State however will address the merits of each issue below.

#### A. Trial Counsel's Inability to Locate Certain Mitigating Witnesses Did Not Warrant Reversal of Defendant's Sentence

The district court concluded that Defendant's Counsel was ineffective for failing to locate and call the following witnesses to testify: Shirley Sorrell, James Ford, Ivri Marrell, Chris Bardow, David Green, Benjamin Dean, Clara Axam, Barbara Dean, and Earnestine Harvey.

Defendant's trial attorney Howard Brooks testified at the evidentiary hearing that he traveled to Michigan in an attempt to locate these witnesses, and could not find them. (AA 11: 2561-2595). According to Defendant, these witnesses could have testified that Defendant and the victim had a loving relationship. A close examination of the affidavits however reveals that the testimony of these witnesses would not have changed the outcome of defendant's penalty hearing.<sup>1</sup>

- 1. Shirley Sorrell stated in her affidavit that she knew Defendant and the victim during junior high and high school in Michigan. (AA 11: 2667-2668). She stated that the victim's family was prejudiced toward Defendant and that Defendant and the victim argued a lot. The victim was controlling and had accused defendant of infidelity. <u>Id</u>. Such testimony is not particularly relevant or mitigating in nature such that the penalty might have been different if Shirley Sorrell had testified.
- 2. James Ford stated in his affidavit that he based the contents of his affidavit on the "collective recollection" between himself, Ivri Marrell, and Benjamin Dean. (AA 11: 2682-2684). Ford stated that the victim and Defendant had a very strained relationship due to the victim's family being prejudiced toward Defendant and the victim being very jealous. Ford stated that though Defendant was not a violent person to his knowledge, if Defendant became addicted to crack while living in Las Vegas, "that may have changed him." James Ford's testimony regarding the true character of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It should be noted that Defendant's present counsel could not locate either David Green or Earnestine Harvey. AA 11: 2672-2674 (affidavit of Reefer). Additionally, Chris Birdow did not remember much about Chappell and only knew him socially through David Green. AA 11: 2673.

the relationship between the defendant and the victim may have been relevant at trial, but offers little in the way of mitigating evidence.

- 3. Ivri Marrell stated in his affidavit that he knew the Defendant during high school and for a short time after high school. (AA 11: 2676-2678). Marrell stated that he has no knowledge of anything that happened after Defendant moved to Tucson. Marrell also stated that if Defendant became addicted to crack cocaine, "that may have changed him." Id. Marrell believes he could have rebutted many inaccurate things at trial about defendant and the victims' relationship. However, his testimony would have been only marginally relevant at the penalty phase.
- 4. Benjamin Dean stated that Defendant confided in him that he felt that the victim was very controlling of him. (AA 11: 2679-2681). Dean believes he could have countered "some of the negative testimony from the trial about James," even though trial counsel had actually contacted and spoken with him. <u>Id</u>.
- 5. Clara Axam actually testified at the penalty hearing, but was not asked to testify during the trial portion of the case. (AA 11: 2665-2666). The district court judge ruled that "none of the claimed trial errors would have affected the outcome of the trial." (AA 11: 2717). Accordingly, this witness' affidavit does not support the granting of a new penalty hearing.
- 6. Barbara Dean stated that she knew Defendant while he was in elementary school. (AA 11: 2669-2671). Dean was contacted by the trial counsel and investigator, but her health would have prohibited her from traveling to Las Vegas to testify even if she were called. <u>Id</u>.

While the above witnesses may have had good things to say about Defendant's character, none of them had any knowledge of Defendant's character or his relationship with the victim after Defendant and the victim had moved to Las Vegas. In fact, it is quite clear that all of these individuals had lost all contact with Defendant. Moreover, much of what these witnesses stated in their affidavits focused on how Defendant was treated by the victim and her family.

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

At the penalty hearing, trial counsel offered the testimony of three witnesses. William Moore, Chappell's juvenile probation officer from Michigan, testified to Chappell's troubled home life, difficulty in school, and activities as a youth. (AA 8: 1983-2002). Clara Axam, the grandmother who raised defendant upon the death of his mother, testified that Chappell was mentally slow and non-violent. (AA 8: 2004-2008). Finally, Sharon Axam, defendant's aunt, testified to the impact of his mother's death when he was two-years old, but that he was non-violent as a child. (AA 8: 2009-2012). In allocution, defendant expressed his love for the victim and his desire to maintain contact with his children. (AA 8: 2012-2013).

Overwhelming evidence was presented in support of the four aggravating circumstances found by the jury. Trial counsel and an investigator traveled to Michigan to locate witnesses, but were only marginally successful. Just because certain childhood acquaintances of defendant are located now, does not mean it was error for trial counsel to not locate them at the time. The proffered affidavits from the new witnesses pertain primarily to the nature of the relationship between the defendant and the victim and none had personal knowledge of the acts of domestic violence introduced by the State. The defendant had already testified at trial to the same facts and details that these witnesses would have testified to at the penalty hearing. (AA 6: 1424-1527). At trial, the defendant testified to the hostility he received from the victim's family (AA 6: 1426-1435), his drug usage (AA 6: 1428, 1438-1439, 1443), and his past domestic violence and threats against the victim (AA 6: 1439-1447). Having additional witnesses testify at the penalty hearing would have been cumulative to the defendant's trial testimony, and in some cases would have directly contradicted the defendant's sworn testimony. It is highly unlikely that had the jury heard their testimony, they would have reached a verdict different than death.

26

27

# B. Defendant's Remaining Claims Regarding the Penalty Phase of his Trial Warranted no Relief Use of Character Evidence

Defendant argues that the failure to properly apprise the jury of the use of character evidence in a penalty hearing violated his constitutional rights. As argued above, this issue is not properly before the court as the district court determined that it was barred by NRS 34.810 (1)(b)(2). However, even based on its merits this claim deserves no relief. The jury was given instructions seven and eight. They read as follows:

The jury may impose a sentence of death only if (1) the jurors unanimously find at least one aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasonable doubt and (2) the jurors unanimously find that there are no mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances or circumstances found.

The law never requires that a sentence of death be imposed; the jury however, may only consider the option of sentencing the Defendant to death where the State has established beyond a reasonable doubt that an aggravating circumstance or circumstances exist and the mitigating evidence is not sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance.

(AA 9:2139-2140). These two jury instructions made it clear that the jury could not sentence Defendant to death based on character evidence presented during the penalty hearing. Further, the jury found four aggravating factors and found that these factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (AA 9:2167-2169). Thus, it is clear that the jury followed the instructions above. As such, the failure to instruct the jury that they could not consider character evidence prior to finding aggravating circumstances could be nothing more than harmless error. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22, 87 S.Ct. 824, 826 (1967).

# Instruction regarding sympathy

Defendant claims that the jury was improperly instructed that it could not consider sympathy in mitigation of the death penalty. Specifically, Defendant claims that this instruction undermined the jury's ability to consider mitigating evidence. Further

1 Defendant claims that both his trial and appellate counsel were ineffective in not 2 raising this issue. 3 In this case, the jury was given instruction number twenty-eight which reads: 4 Although you are to consider only the evidence in the case in reaching a verdict, you must bring to the consideration of 5 the evidence your everyday common sense and judgment as reasonable men and women. Thus, you are not limited solely to what you see and hear as the witnesses testify. You may draw reasonable inferences from the evidence which you 6 7 feel are justified in the light of common experience, keeping in mind that such inferences should not be based on 8 speculation or guess. A verdict may never be influenced by sympathy, prejudice 9 or public opinion. Your decision should be the product of sincere judgment and sound discretion in accordance with 10 these rules of law. 11 (AA 9:2160). Defendant's claim that this instruction restricted the jury's consideration 12 of mitigating factors has previously been rejected by this Court. Lay v. State, 110 13 Nev. 1189, 1194, 886 P.2d 448, 451 (1994). This Court has approved the instruction 14 above so long as the jury is instructed to consider the mitigating circumstances placed 15 before it. <u>Id</u>. In the instant case, jury instruction twenty-two listed the mitigating 16 factors for first degree murder. (ROA Vol. 11 p.2153). In addition, instruction number 17 thirty advised the jury: 18 The Court has submitted two sets of verdicts to you. One set of verdicts reflects the four possible punishments which may be imposed. The other verdicts are special verdicts. They are 19 to reflect your findings with respect to the presence or 20 absence and weight to be given any circumstance and any mitigating circumstance. aggravating 21 22 (AA 9:2162). It is evident from the record that the jury was instructed to consider 23 mitigating circumstances. As such, the antisympathy jury instruction was not 24 improper. See Lay v. State, 110 Nev. 1189, 1194, 886 P.2d 448, 451 (1994). 25 // // 26 27 // 28 //

# Instruction regarding non-statutory mitigation

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Defendant claims that his eighth and fourteenth amendment rights were violated when the District Court did not give a jury instruction delineating the mitigating factors he claimed were present in addition to the statutory mitigating factors. This claim is without merit. In Byford v. State, 994 P.2d 700, 715 (2000), the defendant claimed that the district court had erred in refusing to give the jury an instruction regarding specific mitigating factors. This Court found that the defendant had not properly preserved the issue for appeal. Id. Further, this Court explained that even if the District Court erred in not giving the instruction, it did not violate the eighth and fourteenth amendments pursuant to a Supreme Court decision in Buchanan v. Angelone, 522 U.S. 269, 275, 118 S.Ct. 757, 761 (1998). This Court further explained that the defendant had been given the opportunity to argue the additional mitigating factors during the penalty hearing. <u>Id</u>. As in Byford, Defendant's constitutional rights were not violated when the special jury instruction was not given. Further, instruction number twenty-two indicated that the jury could consider any other mitigating factor. (AA 9:2154).

# **Overlapping Aggravating Circumstances**

Defendant asserts that the State's use of overlapping aggravating circumstances to impose the death penalty was unconstitutional. Furthermore, Defendant claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to strike the aggravating circumstances of burglary and robbery and his appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this issue on appeal. It is well settled that the use of burglary and robbery as aggravating factors is not improper. In Bennett v. State, 106 Nev. 135, 142, 787 P.2d 797, 801 (1990), the defendant argued that the State had improperly used burglary and robbery as two separate aggravating factors even though the charges arose out of the same indistinguishable course of conduct. Id. In disagreeing with the defendant, this Court reasoned that because defendant could be prosecuted for both crimes separately and because convictions of both burglary and robbery do

not violate the double jeopardy clause as they are separate and distinct offenses they could be used separately as aggravating factors. <u>Id.</u> See also <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 362, 376, 664 P.2d 328, 336 (1983) (where the court found that any enumerated felonies that are committed during the course of a murder can be aggravating factors). Thus, it was not improper for the State to use robbery, burglary and sexual assault as aggravating factors, and therefore, neither trial counsel nor appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising this issue.

Defendant further argues in his instant brief that this Court's holding in McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 102 P.3d 606 (2004) precludes the State's use of the burglary, robbery, and sexual assault aggravating circumstances. It is important to first note that this argument is not cognizable as it was not raised in the district court. However, this claim has no merit. First, this Court has yet to determine whether its holding in McConnell applies retroactively. As this Court stated in it's opinion denying rehearing, the McConnell decision constitutes a new rule that does not apply to convictions which are final. Defendant's conviction has been final since 1999. Even if this Court were to apply McConnell retroactively to the instant appeal, that does not mean that the aggravating circumstances must be stricken. To the contrary, there was overwhelming evidence of premeditation and deliberation in this case. Defendant himself testified that after breaking into the victim's home and having sex with her, he discovered a letter written to the victim by another man. Defendant testified that after discovering this letter in the car, he dragged the victim back into the trailer and stabbed her numerous times.

#### **Claims of Prosecutorial Misconduct**

Defendant claims that there were several instances of prosecutorial misconduct during the penalty phase that his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to during the trial and his appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising on direct appeal.

# a. This is Not a Rehabilitation Hearing

Defendant first claims that the following statement was inappropriate.

And this is a penalty hearing. It's a penalty hearing because a violent murder occurred on August 31st of 1995. So it's not appropriate for you to be considering rehabilitation. This isn't a rehabilitation hearing.

(ROA Vol. 11 p.2017). The State submits that this comment was not improper. In Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 1606, 15, 28 P.3d 498, 514 (2001), the defendant argued misconduct occurred when the prosecutor offered his view that the penalty hearing was not a rehabilitation hearing but was for the purpose of retribution and deterrence. Specifically, the prosecutor said, "in my view, based upon this evidence, such a person has forfeited the right to continue to live." <u>Id</u>. This Court determined that there was no error in the prosecutor's remarks and explained:

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